## Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 194 (2023) 114724



## Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/adr

# Recent advances in long-acting drug delivery systems for anticancer drug



## Catarina Pacheco<sup>a,b,c,1</sup>, Ana Baião<sup>a,b,d,1</sup>, Tao Ding<sup>e,1</sup>, Wenguo Cui<sup>e,\*</sup>, Bruno Sarmento<sup>a,b,c,e,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> i3S – Instituto de Investigação e Inovação em Saúde, Universidade do Porto, Rua Alfredo Allen 208, 4200-135 Porto, Portugal

<sup>b</sup> INEB – Instituto de Engenharia Biomédica, Universidade do Porto, Rua Alfredo Allen 208, 4200-135 Porto, Portugal

<sup>c</sup> IUCS – Instituto Universitário de Ciências da Saúde, CESPU, Rua Central de Gandra 1317, 4585-116 Gandra, Portugal

<sup>d</sup> ICBAS – Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar, Universidade do Porto, Rua de Jorge Viterbo Ferreira 228, 4050-313 Porto, Portugal

e Department of Orthopaedics, Shanghai Key Laboratory for Prevention and Treatment of Bone and Joint Diseases, Shanghai Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedics,

Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, 197 Ruijin 2nd Road, Shanghai 200025, China

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 December 2022 Revised 20 January 2023 Accepted 31 January 2023 Available online 4 February 2023

Keywords: Cancer Drug delivery system Extended half-life Long-acting treatment Sustained release

## ABSTRACT

The use of systemic anticancer chemotherapy is intrinsically limited by its toxicity. Whether dealing with small molecules or biopharmaceuticals, after systemic administration, small doses fail to reach effective intratumoral concentrations, while high doses with significant tumor inhibition effects may also drive the death of healthy cells, endangering the patients. Therefore, strategies based on drug delivery systems (DDSs) for avoiding the systemic toxicity have been designed. Due to their ability to protect drugs from early elimination and control drug release, DDSs can foster tumor exposure to anticancer therapeutics by extending their circulation time or steadily releasing drugs into the tumor sites. However, approval of tailored DDSs systems for clinical use is minimal as the safety and the *in vivo* activity still need to be ameliorated by manipulating their physicochemical characteristics. During the last few years, several strategies have been described to improve their safety, stability, and fine-tune pharmaceuticals release kinetics. Herein, we reviewed the main DDSs, namely polymeric conjugates, nano or microparticles, hydrogels, and microneedles, explored for long-acting anticancer treatments, highlighting recently proposed modifications and their potential advantages for different anticancer therapies. Additionally, important limitations of long-acting anticancer therapies and future technology directions were also covered.

© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Recently proposed long-acting drug delivery systems for cancer treatment	2
	2.1. Polymeric conjugates-based long-acting drug delivery systems	2
	2.2. Polymer-coated nanoparticles-based long-acting drug delivery systems	4
	2.3. Hydrogel-based long-acting drug delivery systems	5
	2.4. Microneedles-based long-acting drug delivery systems	7
3.	The present and the future of long-acting drug delivery systems in cancer treatment – Towards clinical translation	9
4.	Conclusions	10
	Declaration of Competing Interest	11
	Acknowledgments	11
	References	11

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2023.114724

0169-409X/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V.



<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors at: Nanomedicines & Translational Drug Delivery Group, i3S - Instituto de Investigação e Inovação em Saúde, Rua Alfredo Allen, 208, 4200-135 Porto, Portugal.

E-mail address: bruno.sarmento@i3s.up.pt (B. Sarmento).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These authors contributed equally to this work.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

## 1. Introduction

Cancer includes a range of diseases, with millions of new cases arising each year, and these numbers are expected to increase yearly [1]. Therefore, despite all efforts, it remains a leading health problem worldwide and a significant cause of mortality.

Current cancer treatment options include surgical intervention, radiotherapy, and systemic therapies, such as chemotherapy, targeted therapy, hormonal therapy, and immunotherapy [2]. Chemotherapy is an essential line of defense against cancer. However, these drugs do not act selectively on the tumor sites and can also act on healthy tissues, and whether for chemo or other systemic therapy, low intratumoral accumulation leads to the administration of higher doses. Above two shortcomings could both generate systemic toxicity, which is associated with severe side effects [3-5]. The scenario is even worse for some small molecules, peptides, or proteins, which in addition to the non-specific biodistribution and toxicity, have a short half-life, limiting the long-term anticancer effects [6]. In sum, due to their limited tumor-targeting ability or rapid elimination, the safety and effectiveness of chemotherapy can be lower than expected and needed. Hence, the development of drug delivery systems (DDSs) may possess a potential to benefit cancer patients.

DDSs, such as polymeric conjugates, nanoparticles (NPs), microparticles, liposomes, hydrogels, microneedles, and many others, have been developed and suggested to address current anticancer treatment shortcomings [7]. Following implantation or systemic administration, DDSs can protect anticancer molecules from premature elimination and drive intratumoral accumulation [8]. Therefore, improving therapies efficacy without taking the risk of administering too high doses [9].

For systemically administered DDSs, therapeutic delivery is often guided by tumors' anatomical and physiological features and tumor microenvironment (TME) [8]. The enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect, first reported in 1986, is the basis for most tumor-targeting DDSs [10]. In the EPR effect, the systems circulating in the bloodstream escape into tumor tissues, due to increased blood vessels permeability, and are retained due to dysfunctional lymphatic drainage, two general features of tumors [1]. To take advantage of the EPR effect, systems should circulate for an extended period. In this way, they can reach tumor site and accumulate more than the free drug. However, despite their remarkable features, one significant obstacle to their long-term circulation is clearance by the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS) [11]. MPS is part of the innate immune system composed of dendritic cells. monocytes, and macrophages, whose primary role is to protect our body through phagocytosis of foreign substances, including DDSs [12]. Thus, different strategies and methods have been recently described to address this difficulty and construct innovative long-acting anticancer DDSs. Long-acting DDSs are systems capable of extending systemic or local exposure to a given drug over a period of time, after a single administration [13,14]. Even though they have a long history of use for contraception purposes, they have been quite explored for anticancer drug delivery, extending therapies length and, potentially, their efficacy.

In addition to extending therapies circulation, long-acting DDSs can also control and sustain drugs release over time [15]. DDSs release kinetics depends on several factors, including molecules diffusion within the system matrix, system biodegradation, or molecules-system affinity [16–19]. Thus, by modulating these factors, one can design DDSs with specific release kinetics, avoiding fluctuating drug concentrations. From a pharmacokinetic point of view, injectable long-acting DDSs present several benefits, including increased anticancer molecules bioavailability, since they do not face absorption barriers or hepatic metabolism, and improved

patient compliance due to a decrease in injection frequency [13,20]. Moreover, if implantable DDSs are used and directly placed on the tumor bed, it is possible to save healthy tissues from treatment exposure. Therefore, compared to systemic administration, local administration can further increase anticancer molecules' tumor bioavailability and limit their multi-organ biodistribution [13]. In short, through multiple processes, DDSs can keep anticancer therapeutics concentration within the therapeutic window over longer periods and increase tumor exposure to therapeutics while reducing systemic exposure. Due to the described potential advantages, they can bring to patients, long-acting DDSs for anticancer treatment have been extensively explored. As we will discuss, the more recently reported alternatives seek to improve the biosafety, the drug release kinetics control over time, improving overall long-acting anticancer performance of DDSs.

Herein, we aim to overview the recent advances in long-acting DDSs with enhanced anticancer efficacy. We divide long-acting anticancer DDSs into four major categories: polymeric-conjugates, stealth-coated nanosystems, hydrogels, and microneedles. For each category, we present both the main advantages and challenges. More importantly, recently reported innovations as well as the rationale behind their development are described, followed by examples of their applications for multiple types of anticancer therapies. Finally, we also address the future directions of long-acting anticancer DDSs, including their clinical translation potential.

## 2. Recently proposed long-acting drug delivery systems for cancer treatment

## 2.1. Polymeric conjugates-based long-acting drug delivery systems

Despite the current efforts in oncological drug discovery, newly proposed molecules often fail to be approved for clinical use [21]. This is partly a result of pharmacokinetic problems, such as low aqueous solubility, low *in vivo* stability, or quick renal filtration, which limit tumor exposure and reduce their effectiveness [22].

Since the 1970s, covalent conjugation between polymers and therapeutic molecules has been suggested as an alternative to improve the latter pharmacokinetic profile: polymers can protect therapeutics from renal clearance, hydrolytic enzymes, and phago-cytosis while increasing their aqueous solubility, extending circulation time [23–30]. Therefore, polymer conjugates-assisted long-acting anticancer therapies are used and in continuous development.

The most frequently used polymer in conjugates construction is poly(ethylene glycol) PEG. PEG is neutral, flexible, biocompatible, and water-soluble, as each ethylene glycol molecule can interact with two or three water molecules [31]. Also, the molecule weight increased, PEG prevents renal filtration of therapeutics with molecular weights lower than 50KDa and increases their half-life [32]. For instance, this was reported for interleukin (IL)-10 and irinotecan [24,25]. Moreover, due to PEGylated irinotecan - Etirinotecan Pegol, currently in clinical trials (NCT05158491) - constructed via a biodegradable ester linkage, irinotecan release is sustained, ergo its half-live increases from 2 to 50 days [25]. PEGylation also increases proteins' half-life, as for L-asparaginase - Oncaspar® approved for acute lymphoblastic leukemia treatment and currently in multiple clinical trials to treat other cancer diseases [33]. In this case, it went from less than one day to almost 15 days, allowing for a long-acting anticancer treatment and decreasing patient administration frequency [26]. Furthermore, as mentioned, through steric hindrance, PEG acts as a shield, protecting biopharmaceutics from proteases and MPS [34]. Despite the first successfully approved polymer-anticancer drug conjugates, there are still several concerns and challenges to be addressed.

First, regardless of improving the pharmacokinetic profile, conjugation often reduces therapeutic conjugates activity, particularly protein activity, which can be interesting anticancer molecules [35]. For instance, considering the extracellular matrix remodeling role in cancer development, metalloprotease inhibitor proteins hold promise for its treatment [36,37]. However, due to their low molecular weight and serum stability, these proteins are eliminated within a few minutes following animal injection and never accumulate in tumors [38]. Owing to the high prevalence of cysteine or lysine residues, metalloprotease inhibitor proteins PEGylation by polymer binding to either via maleimide or Nhydroxysuccinide chemistry would most likely generate multiple heterogeneous polymer-protein conjugates [34]. These would be more stable but less functional and difficult to isolate. As an alternative. Hvarun et al. used recombinant gene technologies to introduce a non-canonical amino acid, propargyl lysine, into a naturally occurring metalloprotease inhibitor protein (Fig. 1) [27]. Through propargyl lysine and PEG-azide binding, they induced sitespecific PEGylation. Compared with the free protein, the sitespecific PEGylated protein proved to resist serum proteases better, being stable for up to 18 days in human serum at 37 °C while maintaining the affinity and metalloproteases inhibitory potency. In intravenously injected mice, PEGylation increased protein halftime about 8-fold, confirming that site-specific PEGylation can delay bloodstream elimination, prolonging the treatment period and system exposure to the therapeutic without compromising its bioactivity.

Another challenge relates to the polymeric conjugate's molecular architecture [32,34,39]. This factor is critical in conjugates in vivo fate, and studies show that branched or circular structures boost therapeutics' half-time and anticancer efficacy more than linear structures [40]. This way, non-linear polymeric conjugates have been studied as potential strategies for long-acting anticancer treatments. Recently, Jia et al. conjugated a lytic peptide, with possible anticancer activity, to a PEG bottlebrush [28]. This bottlebrush consists of multiple PEG chains covalently linked to a central chain, creating a stronger peptide protective shield than linear monoPEGylation. In this case, the PEG bottlebrush increased peptide half-life after intravenous administration to immunocompetent mice since it prevented its elimination by the MPS and renal filtration. Furthermore, in mice bearing NCI-H358 xenografts, lytic peptide-PEG bottlebrush conjugates significantly reduced tumor growth, probably due to increased tumor exposure to treatment. Although this is not vet a recognized long-acting treatment, this study's promising results shed light on the possibility of exploring conjugate structures to develop polymeric conjugated-assisted long-acting anticancer therapies.

There are also concerns about the safety of long-acting polymer-conjugate anticancer treatments [41]. This is mainly due to *in vivo* bioresistant PEG accumulation and the possible side effects of its chronic use [31]. Thus, there is a growing interest in biodegradable polymers, such as proteins or polysaccharides, as PEG substitutes [42]. For instance, designed ankyrin repeat proteins (DARPs), which target epithelial cell adhesion molecules, have been successfully conjugated to cytotoxic molecules and proposed as an alternative [43]. Interestingly, DARPs have also been



**Fig. 1.** PEGylation improves matrix metalloproteases protein inhibitor (N-TIMP2) stability in human serum, extend their half-time and, consequently, systemic exposure. (A) Site-specific conjugation between genetically encoded propargyl lysine (PrK) amino acid and PEG, via Copper(I)-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC). (B) Free protein, N-TIMP2, and PEGylated-protein, N-TIMP2-PEG20K, stability in human serum at 37 °C, for 18 days, analyzed by western blot. (C) N-TIMP2 and N-TIMP2-PEG20K degradation curves in human serum at 37 °C, for 18 days. (D) Linear and (E) logarithmic graphics of free and PEGylated protein serum concentration after injection in mice. Reprinted with permission from Bioconjugate Chemistry, Vol 33 (5), Hayun *et al.*, Bioorthogonal PEGylation Prolongs the Elimination Half-Life of N-TIMP2 While Retaining MMP Inhibition, 795–806. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

used to assess the conjugate size impact on its anticancer efficacy [29]. Equimolar conjugates ranging from very short, short, intermediate, and long were injected in nude mice bearing EpCAMpositive T29 tumor xenografts. Results showed that both very short and long conjugates were not effective because the short conjugates with low half-time and long conjugates with low tumor penetration and distribution limited their anticancer potential. Accordingly, intermediate conjugates had the best anticancer performance, which alerts researchers to the need to find a balance between treatment extension with molecule size and weight increases and intratumoral diffusion.

Considering cancer complexity, molecular heterogeneity, and combination therapy potential, long-acting polymer-anticancer molecule combinations can enhance drugs' efficacy compared to monotherapy [44]. Arroyo-Crespo *et al.* conjugated polyglutamic acid with a chemotherapeutic, doxorubicin (DOX), and an estrogen-modulating agent, aminoglutethimide [30]. DOX and aminoglutethimide were directly conjugated via a Gly, a Gly-Gly, or a Gly-Phe-Leu-Gly linker. Authors verified in in vitro assays that the therapeutics release profile depends on the binding chemistry, with direct binding inducing a simultaneous and slow release of 10% of both drugs in 72 h. In the orthotopic 4 T1 breast tumor mouse model, animals treated with the DOX and aminoglutethimide conjugates survived longer than those treated with single conjugates. The DOX half-life increased by about 9-fold. Therefore, this is an example of replacing PEG with a degradable polymer and of polymeric conjugates application in long-acting combined anticancer therapy. Furthermore, this highlights the importance of the chemical link choice to control drug release kinetics. If the binding is not stable enough, drugs may be prematurely released, whereas if the release is insufficient, molecules' full therapeutic potential might not be achieved [32].

It is also essential to mention recent advances in long-acting immunotherapy based on polymeric conjugates, this is, systems capable of releasing immune drugs through a long-term sustained manner. Often, immunotherapy is based on programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1) antibody blockers usage to incite cytotoxic T cells activity and tumor cell elimination [45]. However, PD-L1 is actively recycled, maintaining its expression on the tumor cell surface [46]. Following these therapy specificities, strategies under development are not only aiming for drug half-life extension. For example, it was recently reported that a strategy based on polymeric conjugates prevents receptor recycling and leads to their degradation [47]. Briefly, multiple PD-L1 antagonist peptides were conjugated to N-(2-hydroxypropyl)methacrylamide (HPMA) (Fig. 2). Regardless of changes in this peptide half-life, within 24 h after injection into syngeneic BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 tumors, the conjugate induces receptors cross-linking and consequent elimination, unlike antibodies or unconjugated antagonist peptides, that only offer a transient block. Indeed, after polymeric conjugated-assisted chemotherapy, HPMA-PD-L1 antagonist peptide eradicated all tumors and allowed animals to resist tumor development after re-injection of 4T1 cells. Thus, it is also possible to establish long-acting polymer conjugates-based immunotherapies, which appear to be highly innovative and effective.

Recent advances in long-acting polymeric conjugate construction maintain molecules' bioactivity, decrease conjugate immunogenicity, and present physical and chemical characteristics that guarantee a balance between treatment extension and effectiveness. However, in the future, more rigorous and systematic strategies must be designed to guarantee reproducibility, scalability, and acceptable costs during conjugates production, promoting the clinical translation.

Based on other non-covalent bonds, such as hydrophobic interactions, van der Walls, or hydrogen bonds, different strategies can also drive polymers and therapeutic molecules interaction and give rise to other long-acting anticancer DDSs [48]. Polymers modification strategies employed in other long-acting anticancer drug delivery systems will be explored in the following sections.

## 2.2. Polymer-coated nanoparticles-based long-acting drug delivery systems

The coating of DDSs for systemic application has been used to overcome their premature clearance by MPS, extending blood circulation half-life of the systems [49]. For this, a stealth-coating layer is grafted onto the surfaces of the nanosystems, such as nanoparticles (NPs), with an electrically neutral hydrophilic surface layer [49,50]. The most used materials are nonionic polymers and surfactants, which restrict the interactions between NPs and opsonin proteins that mediate phagocytic clearance [51].

Over the years, most studies on the surface stabilization of NPs have been performed with PEG [52]. The first nanosystem for cancer treatment approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) was Doxil<sup>®</sup>, a liposome encapsulating DOX with PEG [53]. Since then, numerous PEGylated products have emerged in the market for various biomedical applications, including systems for cancer treatment that significantly extend the circulation time and tumor tissue accumulation [54].

Coating NPs surface with PEG blocks electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions, increasing their blood circulation half-time and therefore increasing specific binding and internalization of NPs into the desired tumor cells or organs [55]. Incorporating PEG in nanosystems can prolong the circulation time in blood 1.5–5-fold, and consequently, the plasma half-lime increases [56]. Characteristics of PEGylated NPs for long-acting delivery include dose independence, saturation, and first-order kinetics under therapeutic dose regimens.

Nevertheless, coating nanosystems with PEG may impair DDSs performance. Some studies reported that PEGylated systems can generate immunogenic responses, such as anti-PEG antibodies [57]. Moreover, there is a commonly reported immunogenic response after administering PEGylated nanosystems, known as the "Accelerated Blood Clearance" (ABC) phenomenon [58]. The ABC effect is correlated with the rapid clearance of the PEGylated NPs after multiple administrations.

To overcome PEGylation limitations, alternative surface modification strategies have arisen, including substitute polymers [59], conditional removal of PEG [51], and biomimetic coatings [60].

The substitute polymers can include polyoxazolines (POZ or POx) [61], poly(amino acids) such as poly(hydroxyethyl l-glutamine) or poly(hydroxyethyl-l-asparagine) (PHEA) [62], HPMA [63], polyglycerols [64], polysaccharides, and betaines such as sulfobetaine and carboxybetaine [65].

Polysaccharides used in the stealth coating of nanosystems' surfaces are mainly derivatives of chitosan, dextran, hyaluronic acid, and heparin [51]. They are advantageous because of their biodegradability, low immunogenicity, and reduced toxicity. Most importantly, DDSs based on polysaccharides coating have prolonged circulation times of the loaded drugs, enhancing their accumulation in tumors [52].

An example is chitosan, which improves NPs-cells interactions at weakly acidic pH, due to its positive charge [66]. Coating nanosystems with chitosan improved the blood retention level, increasing the length of activity of the drug [67]. Additionally, chitosan coating of polymeric systems enhanced tumor-targeting selectivity as their accumulation in the cancer tumor site [68]. Another polysaccharide widely used in DDS is albumin, the most abundant plasma protein across the mammalian species [69]. A significant advantage of using albumin in DDSs is its more than 15-days plasma half-life, which improves the circulation time and allows the tailoring of long-acting systems. Different human

C. Pacheco, A. Baião, T. Ding et al.



**Fig. 2.** PD-L1 antagonist peptides conjugated with HPMA (MPPA) drive PD-L1 crosslinking and elimination, fostering long-acting anticancer immunity. (A) Schematic illustration of single anti-PD-L1 antibody's transient PD-L1 blocking, followed by PD-L1 recycling, versus MPPA-induced PD-L1 elimination via lysosome degradation. (B) Surface PD-L1 recovery, for 18 h, after treatment with PD-L1 antibodies (a-PD-L1), single PD-L1 antagonist peptides (PPA), and MPPA. (C) Survival curves of naïve mice (Naïve) and mice pre-treated with MPPA (CR) after re-injection of 4T1 tumor cells. (D) Number of lung metastatic focis of Naïve and CR mice after re-injection of 4T1 tumor cells. (E) Schematic illustration of MPPA-triggered antitumor activity following chemotherapy induced immunogenic cell death. Reprinted with permission from Advanced Functional Materials, Vol 30, Li *et al.*, Inhibition of Immunosuppressive Tumors by Polymer-Assisted Inductions of Immunogenic Cell Death and Multivalent PD-L1 Crosslinking, 1908961. Copyright 2022.

serum albumin-coated nanosystems loaded with docetaxel [70] and paclitaxel [71] have demonstrated a sustained drug release over multiple weeks for anticancer therapy.

Another exciting alternative to PEG is poly-zwitterions such as poly(sulfobetaine) (PSB) and poly(carboxybetaine) (PCB) [72]. Zwitterion molecules have tunable surface charge properties since they contain positively and negatively charged groups with an overall neutral charge [73]. Like other hydrophilic stealth polymers, they can escape immune surveillance and increase the blood circulation half-life [74]. Studies have shown that NPs with zwitterionic moieties can reduce non-specific protein adsorption and prolong blood circulation under physiological conditions [73]. Specifically, systems are retained in tumor tissues by EPR effect, which results in an enhanced cellular uptake *in vivo* and tumor growth inhibition. Due to their advantages, zwitterionic polymer-coated NPs have great potential to achieve cancer therapeutic efficacy.

In recent years, most attention on DDS coating is toward using live cells and cell derivates to mimic a cell-like behavior due to the intrinsic biological functions and immunological properties [49]. DDSs decorated through bio-stealth have several associated advantages. Examples are improving specific interactions with the environment, enhancing particular targeting, biocompatibility, prolonged circulation time, and preferential accumulation in the TME [75,76].

Immune cells, such as macrophages, T cells, and red blood cells (RBC), have been exploited as membrane sources to develop biohybrid stealth systems with versatile functions [77]. In addition, their application in nanosystems has enhanced their targeting ability and circulation time.

RBCs half-life is about 120 days, providing prolonged circulation [78]. Furthermore, the advantages of using RBCs are extended to good biocompatibility, immune recognition evasion, and low

immunogenicity. Antigens such as CD47 or CD59 present in RBCs surface act as a "do not eat me" signal, inhibiting MPS uptake and allowing these cells to remain in circulation [79,80]. For these reasons, RBCs have been explored for drug delivery purposes. Studies with NPs loaded with anticancer therapies that include components of RBCs have shown circulation times of up to 50 days in experiments carried out in mice [81–84]. These findings indicate that RBC membrane-camouflaged NPs exhibit a prolonged blood circulation time.

## 2.3. Hydrogel-based long-acting drug delivery systems

Tumor surgical resection is the most frequently used treatment for solid tumors [85]. Post-surgery patients end up with the socalled tumor resection cavity, a space with the potential to house local anticancer therapeutics that can help prevent disease recurrence [86].

Hydrogels have been extensively proposed and explored for local anticancer treatment, as these water-retaining polymeric networks can serve as drug reservoirs [87]. Compared with systemic drug administration, hydrogel-based pools accommodated in tumor resection cavities increase intratumoral drug concentration and limit the off-target distribution [88], contributing to therapy success and reducing toxicity or adverse reactions, huge issues resulting from aggressive anticancer therapeutics short of specificity [88].

Several polymers, such as chitosan, or co-polymers, such as poly (lactide-*co*-glycolide)-block-poly(ethylene glycol) (PLGA-PEG) or poly(caprolactone)-poly(ethylene glycol) (PCL-PEG), can be applied to anticancer hydrogels development [19]. In the last decade, many proposed systems have been "smart" [89]. For instance, they turn into gels *in situ*, in response to body temperature, pH, or biomolecules' concentration, while they are liquid and easily

 Table 1

 Summary of recently reported hydrogel-based long-acting DDS for anticancer therapy.

Composition	Delivered Drug	Malignancy	Major Advances	Experimental Model	Improvements in Drugs Pharmacokinetic Profile	Reference
Methacryloyl and poly(vinyl alcohol)- methacrylate modified chondroitin sulfate	Dox and sunitinib	NS	Drug release from chondroitin sulfate modified hydrogels depends on the levels of substitution	• In vitro drug release assay	<ul> <li>20-30% of dox is released in 30 days</li> <li>100% of sunitinib is released in 42 days</li> </ul>	[92]
Polyacrylamide and alginate-CaCl $_2$	Lomustine	NS	Double network hydrogels can control and sustain drugs release	• In vitro drug release assay	• 50% of lomustine is released in 29 days	[93]
Acetyl, butanoyl or heptanoyl modified chitosan	Dox and gemcitabine	NS	Hydrogels modifications impact on drug release profile can be predicted in silico	• In vitro drug release assay	<ul> <li>40% of dox is released in 3 days</li> <li>30% of gemcitabine is released in 3 days</li> </ul>	[94]
PLGA-PEG-PLGA	Gemcitabine modified with a fatty acid	Breast tumor	Gemcitabine sustained release induces a long-acting chemotherapy and radiosensitization	<ul> <li>In vitro drug release assay</li> <li>4T1-tumor bearing mice model</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>80% of gemcitabine is released in 37 days</li> <li>Durable radiosensitization effect during multiple X ray exposures achieves higher tumor growth inhibition in animal models</li> </ul>	[103]
CO <sub>2</sub> H-PDLLA-PEG-PDLLA-CO <sub>2</sub> H/NH <sub>2</sub> - PDLLA-PEG-PDLLA-NH <sub>2</sub>	Dox and 5,6- dimethylxanthenone- 4-acetic acid (DMXAA)	NS	Local and sustained anti-tumor drugs release limits systemic biodistribution and potential toxicity while accomplishes a superior tumor growth inhibition	<ul> <li>In vitro drug release assay</li> <li>BALB/c nude mice bearing HeLa cells xenografts</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>In 40 days, 60% of dox is released at pH 5.5 and 47% is released at pH 7.4</li> <li>Superior tumor growth inhibition in animal models in comparison with the free drug</li> </ul>	[104]
Alginate and ATP-specific aptamers	CpG oligonucleotide	Colon cancer	It is possible synchronize hydrogel-based drugs release with repeated low doses of chemo or radiotherapy	<ul> <li>BALB/c mice bearing murine</li> <li>CT26 colon tumors</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>CpG oligonucleotide is released in response to chemotherapy or radiotherapy induced released ATP. The hydrogel improves, dramat- ically, the therapy outcomes, managing to eliminate already established tumors, distant metastases and induce immunological memory.</li> </ul>	[105]
Alginate	Pexidartinib and anti- PD1 antibodies	NS	Hydrogels improve anti-PD1 antibodies pharmacokinetics by extending circulation time and tumor accumulation	<ul> <li>C57BL/6 mice surgically implanted with the hydrogel</li> <li>CT26 colon cancer model</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>60% of anit-PD1 antibody is released in 1 day and 34% of pexidartinib is released in 5 days</li> <li>Due to improvements in drugs pharmacoki- netic profile, hydrogel provides a potent ther- apeutic effect, protects animals from tumor recurrence, leads to tumor-associated macro- phages depletion, and induces tumor T cells infiltration.</li> </ul>	[106]
Fibrin	CAR-T cells	Glioblastoma	Hydrogels can accommodate CAR- T cells, sustain their viability and allow their gradual release within the tumor resection cavity	<ul> <li>In vitro release assay</li> <li>GBM tumor resection model in immunodeficient mice</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Gradual and sustained release of cells (1.5x106) over 5 days</li> <li>Cells persist at the tumor site for up to 7/8 days after implantation and increase T CD3 + cells infiltration.</li> </ul>	[107]

manipulated during production and patient administration [89,90]. However, despite their benefits, the full potential of anticancer therapeutics might not be reached if they are locally applied but rapidly released [91]. Therefore, alternative strategies have been investigated to address this problem, and novel long-acting anticancer hydrogels have been reported (Table 1).

First, it is worth remembering that therapeutics released from hydrogels mainly depend on diffusion processes, which count on their interactions with matrixes [87]. That being the case, polymers' chemical modifications, which modulate their charge or hydrophilicity, can alter those interactions and, consequently, fine-tune the release kinetics [87]. Frequently, hydrophobic groups are introduced into polymers as they could promote polymertherapeutics hydrophobic interactions delaying the last release [91,92]. Following this strategy, Ornell *et al.* selected methacryloyl groups to covalently modify chondroitin sulfate at different degrees [92]. After polymer crosslinking, chondroitin sulfate with varying substitution levels produces hydrogels with multiple release profiles, faster or slower. Some can sustainably release cationic anticancer therapeutics for more than one month. With the same purpose, using electrostatic interactions between alginate and polyacrylamide, Zeng et al. developed a double network hydrogel capable of releasing lomustine for up to approximately one month in a sustained manner [93].

Nonetheless, despite polymers' chemical modifications proving to be an effective strategy to prolong anticancer therapeutics exposure, exploring polymers' chemical modifications to precisely adjust release kinetics based on an educated guess is a difficult, complex, and time-consuming task. Therefore, recently described computational tools that guide chemical modifications and predict release kinetics might be interesting [94]. Initially, the operator introduces parameters as chemical modifications to be carried out, their distribution, and the ratio between therapeutic molecules and polymer chains number in the software, which predicts the therapeutics diffusion coefficient. In the next step, researchers can produce promising anticancer hydrogels and validate in silico anticipated outcomes.

As chemical structure of polymers controls hydrogel payloads release, it can impact release kinetics, as well. Therefore, therapeutics have also been chemically modified and used for long-acting anticancer hydrogel development. For instance, increasing gentamicin lipophilicity via a fatty acid chain incorporation before hydrogel encapsulation allows for zero-order release kinetics, with an 80% cumulative release after 30 days [17]. Furthermore, compared to the same system loaded with the non-modified molecule, long-acting gentamicin hydrogels allowed mice bearing 4T1 mammary tumors radiosensitization for multiple radiotherapy cycles, promoting its anticancer effectiveness.

In the drug delivery field, nano or micro-size systems are frequently used for their ability to sustain the release of loaded therapeutics [95,96]. As so, therapeutics encapsulation, followed by hydrogel incorporation, not only has the potential to increase hydrogels' loading capacity and, therefore, its anticancer potency but can generate long-acting treatments [97]. This was the case reported by Darge *et al.*, who developed DOX-loaded micelles incorporated in a hydrogel [19]. Micelles increased hydrogel DOX loading capacity and prevented its premature release. Moreover, the DOX-loaded micelles hydrogels significantly inhibited tumor growth compared with the free drug in tumor mice.

Even when therapeutics presents a good pharmacokinetic profile, acquired resistance is one of the biggest obstacles to their success. There are limited alternatives to tackle this problem, but, once again, hydrogels can be valuable tools. Hydrogels can prolong anticancer treatments and release two or more molecules simultaneously, and cancer patients seem to benefit from prolonged treatment exposure and combined therapies [44]. However, more recently, one of the innovations catching the field's attention is the design of hydrogels for combined synchronized therapy. Rather than just sustainably releasing therapeutics or in response to tumor microenvironment or external stimulus, hydrogels might respond to other therapies. For instance, Sun *et al.* conjugated alginate with an immunoadjuvant aptamer and produced an ATPresponsive hydrogel [98]. After radiotherapy, free ATP from dead tumor cells triggers aptamer release from the hydrogel, which prolonged CT26 colon tumor-bearing animals' survival.

Since 2018, when discoveries in cancer immunology were awarded a Nobel prize, immunotherapy has represented the "promised land" of anticancer treatment [99]. Tumor-associated macrophage depletion, immune checkpoint inhibitors blockage, or even cancer vaccines are among the hopes to cure cancer patients. Hydrogels can be advantageous, as they may also allow long-acting immunotherapies development [100]. Hydrogelbased strategies recently proposed to prolong the immunotherapeutic effect are like those already described, such as using nano or micro-systems to encapsulate immunomodulators. One of these cases was recently reported by Li et al., who used an alginate hydrogel as a local reservoir of pexidortinib-loaded NPs and PD-L1 antibody functionalized platelets (Fig. 3) [101]. Their results, in a melanoma recurrence mouse model, indicated immunotherapeutic efficacy, as they found tumor-associated macrophage depletion together with T cells infiltration and activation, following NPs and platelets sustained release, in addition to superior animal survival. As hydrogels can transport and deliver viable cells, they have been recently tested for treatments with chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells. In a glioblastoma resection animal model, a fibrin gel loaded with CAR T cells promoted their sustained release and superior anticancer efficacy compared to the same cells intravenously inoculated [102].

NS = Not Specified.

### 2.4. Microneedles-based long-acting drug delivery systems

Microneedles are minimally invasive arrays in the range of microns (less than 1000  $\mu$ m in length) designed to penetrate the primary barrier of the skin, specifically the stratum corneum layer, for intradermal drug delivery [108,109]. The application of microneedles is based on the formation of temporary microchannels in the skin's outer layer that allows the delivery of active molecules through passive diffusion without damaging blood vessels or stimulating nerves.

The use of microneedles for controlled-release drug delivery has been investigated in the last few years [110]. Microneedles offer many advantages, as they can deliver almost any drug in a painfree manner [111].

Importantly, long-acting drug delivery can be achieved through microneedles [112]. Furthermore, drugs release profile from microneedles is manipulable, using different strategies such as altering drug binding affinity, the type of polymers, and polymer hydration [113,114]. For instance, biodegradable and swellable polymers can be used to promote prolonged drug release from microneedles [115].

In short, there are several gains when using microneedles in transdermal drug delivery, such as safety, convenience, minimal invasiveness, improved drug bioavailability, and efficient drug delivery [116]. Nevertheless, although the use of microneedles is continually increasing, there are some limitations associated with these DDSs, such as the poor loading capacity, production procedures complexity, and the lack of access to deep tissues and organs.

Microneedles can act as long-acting DDSs dependent on their morphology and drug release mechanisms. Regarding these characteristics, microneedles can be divided into five types: solid,



**Fig. 3.** Alginate hydrogel incorporating pexidortinib-loaded NPs (PLX-NPs) and PD-L1 antibody (aPD-1) functionalized platelets drives extended anticancer immunity. (A) Schematic illustration of pexidortinib-loaded NPs and PD-L1 antibody functionalized platelets alginate hydrogel mechanism of action. (B) PLX-NPs *in vitro* release profile. (C) Platelet *in vitro* release profile. (D) aPD-1 *in vitro* release profile. (E) Macrophages, (F) CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and (G) INF-Y<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells per tumor mass following hydrogel treatment and controls implantation on animals' tumor surgical cavities. (H) Survival curves of tumor recurrence mice models after treatment with the hydrogel or controls. Reprinted with permission from Nature Communications, Vol 13, Li *et al.*, Depletion of tumor associated macrophages enhances local and systemic platelet-mediated anti-PD-1 delivery for post-surgery tumor recurrence treatment, 1845. Copyright 2022.

coated, hollow, dissolving, and hydrogel-forming microneedles [117].

Microneedles for controlled transdermal delivery are innovative strategies that can overcome the disadvantages related to conventional cancer therapies [118]. Cancer treatment associated with microneedles allows for improved targeted drug delivery, noninvasive controllable administration and release, and a potential therapeutic synergistic effect [119]. Additionally, microneedle systems are being studied to diagnose and prevent cancer and pain management.

In recent years, several review papers have discussed the application of microneedles for controlled transdermal medicine delivery [110,118,119]. Notably, the tunable properties of biodegradable polymers make polymeric microneedles to be explored for sustained delivery to achieve long-acting treatment, as it is possible to manipulate pre-loaded drugs release kinetics. Furthermore, to improve drug delivery for cancer therapy, microneedles have been described to deliver mainly photothermal and photodynamic agents [120], chemotherapeutic drugs [110], therapeutic genes [121], and immunotherapy agents [122], with several potential clinical benefits.

Microneedles for delivering chemotherapeutic agents into tumor tissues are considered a safe treatment, as non-specific interactions with healthy tissues are reduced and, consequently, the side effects [118,119]. In this way, the efficacy of anticancer treatments is improved.

Drugs commonly used in first-line chemotherapeutic regimes include cisplatin and DOX. Lan *et al.* developed a tumor-targeting microneedle technique to mediate the transdermal delivery of lipid-coated cisplatin NPs [123,124]. The NPs presented a sustained release throughout 72 h in dialysis membranes *in vitro*. *In vivo* studies using a xenograft tumor BALB/c murine model demonstrated that the microneedles arrays significantly reduced tumor volume and weight without detecting toxicity. In another study, polymeric NPs loaded with DOX were coated on microneedles for carcinoma treatment and delivered by hypodermic injection to the porcine oral cavity [125]. The system demonstrated a substantial prolonged release of DOX, reducing the concern about the toxicity caused by the burst release. Indeed, DOX-loaded microneedles administered by hypodermic injection can act as long-acting DDSs.

Several types of immunotherapies for cancer treatment have been developed in the last years [126]. Nevertheless, immunotherapy has some limitations, including tissue heterogeneity and offtarget toxicity.

The transdermal delivery of immune agents loaded in microneedles has been studied as a strategy to overcome the restraints associated with cancer immunotherapy. Skin is a highly active immune organ rich in immune cells containing a large population of dermal dendritic cells (DCs) as resident antigen-presenting cells (APCs) under the stratum corneum, playing an essential role in immunomodulation. Therefore, the transdermal administration of microneedles can incite robust immune responses by activating T-cells [127]. In addition, microneedles have good biocompatibility and can deliver high molecular weight molecules and vaccines across the skin, which makes them excellent candidates for delivering immunological biomolecules to APCs in the skin [128].

Transdermal vaccination mediated with microneedles has been proven to be a practical approach for administering antigens with a prolonged release and an antitumor response. Cancer vaccines can contain proteins, peptides, DCs, tumor lysates, tumor cells, DNA, mRNA, and viral vectors [129]. One of the most studied antigens for microneedles delivery is ovalbumin (OVA), with several reports demonstrating a sustainable release of the macromolecule for days [130]. Specifically, in B16 melanoma tumors, the transdermal delivery of antigen-loaded NPs by the microneedles prolonged skin retention time [131]. Furthermore, the delivery by microneedles efficiently inhibited tumors' proliferation and improved the antigens' stability. Apart from antigens, the vaccination can be done with synthesized peptides derived from human cells [132] and even the whole tumor lysate [133,134]. Indeed, they all can have a constant plasma concentration for days and improve anticancer effects.

The local delivery of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) to targeted sites is also possible with microneedles, improving antitumor immunity by inhibiting intrinsic down-regulators of immunity. One of the most studied immune checkpoints is PD-1 and its ligand, PD-L1, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA4), and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). As a result, several anticancer immunotherapy strategies, including microneedles, have been developed to target these immune checkpoints [122,135,136]. An example is the microneedles encapsulated with an anti-PD-1 antibody developed for melanoma treatment [122]. The system provided sustained drug delivery in a physiologically controlled manner, with an enhanced retention time of anti-PD-1 in tumor tissues. This strategy had low side effects while improving T-cell immunity. Furthermore, the microneedle-based delivery approach for PD-1 targeting revealed excellent results in treating immunotherapy-unresponsive superficial cancers (Fig. 4).



**Fig. 4.** *In vivo* anti-skin cancer treatment of aPD1 delivered by MNs. (a) Mouse dorsum and relevant skin) was transcutaneously treated with an MN patch (left), with the image of the trypan blue staining showing the penetration of MN patch into the mouse skin (right) (scale bar: 1 mm). (b) H&E-stained section of cross-sectional mouse skin area penetrated by one MN (scale bar: 200 μm). (c) Merged fluorescence and bright field image of the mouse skin penetrated by FITC-antibody loaded MNs (green: aPD1) (scale bar: 200 μm). (d) *In vivo* bioluminescence imaging of the B16F10 tumors of different groups indicated (1, untreated; 2, MN-GOx; 3, free aPD1; 4, MN-aPD1; 5, MN-GOxaPD1). (e) Quantified tumor signals according to d. (f) Kaplan — Meier survival curves for the treated and the control mice. (g) Immunofluorescence staining of tumors treated with MN-GOx-aPD1 or free aPD1 at different time points (green: aPD1, blue: nucleus) (scale bar: 100 μm). Reprinted with permission from Nano Letters, Vol. 16 (4) Wong *et al.*, Enhanced Cancer Immunotherapy by Microneedle Patch-Assisted Delivery of Anti-PD1 Antibody, 2334–2340. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

The combination of anti-PD-1 agents with other immunomodulators for microneedles delivery is a strategy that can enhance the antitumor efficacy [137]. For example, Ye *et al.* developed a dissolving microneedle system for a synergic immunotherapy blockage of IDO and PD-1 in melanoma tumors [136]. The results demonstrated that the synergistic administration reduced local immunosuppression and improved T-cell immunity.

## 3. The present and the future of long-acting drug delivery systems in cancer treatment – Towards clinical translation

DDSs have been frequently used in long-acting anticancer therapy construction. These can protect therapeutic molecules from renal or MPS elimination or *in vivo* degradation, increasing blood circulation extent. They can also act as reservoirs that control pre-loaded therapeutics release kinetics, providing anticancer molecules with steady and sustained levels throughout extended periods. In any case, by reducing concentration variations, these systems fuel tumor exposure to treatments and, naturally, improve their effectiveness. Regarding loaded and delivered molecules, DDSs can be used to design long-acting chemotherapy, gene therapy, immunotherapy, phototherapy, or thermotherapy, being particularly advantageous for highly unstable molecules or with very narrow therapeutic windows.

Exploring long-acting DDSs in cancer treatment is nothing new. Polymers have been studied and used for drug protection and sustained release since the 1960s [138]. However, anticancer molecules release kinetics from recently proposed alternatives is more precisely controlled, for instance, through minor variations in polymers' chemical structure, and systems safety profile has been improved, for example, through PEG substitution. Table 2 lists ongoing clinical trials with long-acting anticancer DDSs. These include, mainly, anticancer molecule-PEG conjugates, PEGylated nanosystems, and a small set of hydrogels and microneedles, not representative of the recently developed and herein reviewed innovative systems. Although these are not yet in clinical trials, we expect newly described long-acting anticancer polymeric conjugates, coated systems, hydrogels, and microneedles to soon begin their journey until clinical approval.

Despite the abundant benefits of innovative systems, there are still a few drawbacks and challenges limiting their therapeutic potential and clinical translation [139–141].

First, little is known about the correlation between systems' physicochemical characteristics, such as charge, size, or stiffness, and *in vivo* fate. Strategies applied in long-acting anticancer treatment development are still very empirical and based on trial-anderror methods. Clarifying and systematizing systems' physicochemical characteristics impact on their activity might drive the design of more rigorous strategies, probably with more predictable results.

Despite appearing advantageous in preclinical settings, most systems fail to improve patient care in clinical trials. Hence, we anticipate the need to establish and use preclinical models better at predicting therapeutic outcomes. On top of that, transparent, robust, and quantifiable criteria to assess long-acting anticancer drug delivery systems' performance still need to be improved.

Ultimately, clinical translation is still hampered by concerns about sterilization, stability, production procedures complexity, scale-up, and shelf-life. These issues must also be addressed to foster long-acting anticancer drug delivery systems approval for patients' treatment. Additionally, there is a lack of guidelines for the production, use, and management of long-acting cancer therapeutics. There are already some guidelines for long-acting therapeutics for other diseases, such as antipsychotics for the treatment of serious mental illness [142], and antiretrovirals for

### Table 2

Ongoing clinical trials of drug delivery systems for anticancer treatment (data available at ClinicalTrials.gov).

## Polymeric conjugates-based long-acting drug delivery systems

Name	Description	Indication	Stage (Clinical Trial)					
JK-1201I	PEGylated Irinotecan	Small Cell Lung Cancer	Phase I/II (NCT05158491)					
ADI-PEG	PEGylated Asparaginase	<ul> <li>Hepatocelular Carcinoma</li> </ul>	Phase II (NCT 04965714)					
		<ul> <li>Uveal Melanoma</li> </ul>	Phase III (NCT05317819)					
		<ul> <li>Acute Myeloid Leukemia</li> </ul>	Phase I (NCT03922880)					
		<ul> <li>Glioblastoma</li> </ul>	Phase I (NCT05001828)					
			Phase I (NCT04587830)					
ASPARLAS <sup>®</sup>		Locally Advanced or Metastatic Pancreatic	FDA 2018					
66 DE6		Cancer	Phase I (NCI05034627)					
SC-PEG		Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia     (ALL) and Leurenkahlastic Leukemia	Phase II (NCI 01574274)					
		(ALL) and Lymphobiastic Lymphoma	Phase II (NCT04414060)					
PEG-ASP		Lympholia	Phase II (NCT02085655)					
		Acute Lymphobiastic Leukenna	Phase III (NC102085055)					
			(NCT02881086)					
Oncasnar®		• Lymphoma	FDA 1994					
Oncuspui		• Lymphonia	Phase II (NCT02705508)					
			Recruiting					
			(NCT04843150)					
Pegilodecakin	PEGvlated recombinant human IL-10	Melanoma Castrate Resistant Prostate	Phase I (NCT02009449)					
regnoucculum	120ylatea recombinant naman 12 ro	Cancer, Ovarian Cancer, Renal Cell Carci-	(((erozooo 110)					
		noma, Colorectal Carcinoma, Pancreatic						
		Carcinoma, Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinoma						
Sylatron <sup>TM</sup>	PEGylated recombinant Interferon alfa-2b	Chronic Myeloid Leukemia	FDA 2011					
	5	Hepatocellular Carcinoma	Phase II (NCT03831776)					
		Melanoma	Recruiting					
			(NCT04943679)					
			Phase II (NCT00539591)					
Stealth coating-based	d long-acting drug delivery systems							
Name	Description	Indication	Stage (Clinical Trial)					
Doxil	PEGylated Liposome with DOX	<ul> <li>Karposi's Sarcoma</li> </ul>	FDA 1995/ 2005/2008					
		Ovarian Cancer						
		<ul> <li>Multiple Myeloma</li> </ul>						
Onivyde	PEGylated Liposome with irinotecan	Pancreatic Cancer	FDA, 2015					
Genexol-PM	PEGylated Micelle with paclitaxel	<ul> <li>Breast, Pancreatic, NSCL and Ovarian</li> </ul>	EMA, 2018					
		cancers						
NKTR-102	PEGylated Liposome with irinotecan	<ul> <li>Breast and Colon cancer</li> </ul>	Phase III (NCT02915744)					
			(NCT01492101)					
Lipoplatin	PEGylated Liposome with cisplatin	<ul> <li>Pancreatic, Head and Neck and Breast</li> </ul>	Phase III (NCT02702700)					
		Cancer						
Thermodox	PEGylated Liposome with DOX	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Phase III (NCT02112656)					
Nano-QUI	NPS loaded with quercetin, PEG	Squamous Cell Carcinoma	Phase II ( $NC105456022$ )					
GEN-I	PEG-PEI-Cholesterol Lipopolymer, IL-12 plasmid	Advanced Epithenia Ovarian, Fallopian     Tube or Primary Poritoneal Cancer	Phase I/II (INC103393884)					
		Tube of Primary Peritoneal Cancel						
Hydrogel-based long	-acting drug delivery systems							
Name	Description	Indication	Stage (Clinical Trial)					
UGN-102	Mitomycin-loaded Hydrogel	<ul> <li>Non-Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer</li> </ul>	Phase III (NCT05243550)					
			Phase III (NCT05136898)					
			Phase III (NCT04688931)					
LICORN-01	GMCSF and Mitamurtide-loaded Hydrogel	Colorectal Liver Metastases	Phase I (NCT04062721)					
Microneedles-based long-acting drug delivery systems								
Name	Description	Indication	Stage (Clinical Trial)					
	Microneedle array-DOX	<ul> <li>Cutaneous T Cell Lymphoma</li> </ul>	Phase I					
		-	(NCT02192021)					
	DOX-containing MNA	Basal Cell Carcinoma	Phase I/II (NCT04928222)					
	Dissolving microneedles arrays with DOX	Basal Cell Carcinoma	Phase I (NCT03646188)					

Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) prevention [143]. Despite being different conditions, challenges and drug management should be comparable in the cancer field. Even so, it is necessary to fill this gap for a successful translation to the clinic.

## 4. Conclusions

DDSs have been successful in extend anticancer therapeutics activity over time and increase their intratumoral accumulation by prolonging blood circulation. To avoid the premature bioelimination of therapeutics, specific technological approaches, as incorporation of linear PEG chains, have been implemented. These prevent both renal filtration and recognition by immune cells or hydrolytic enzymes by steric hindrance and increases in molecular weight. Concerns about biosafety and the need to further extend therapeutics' half-life have recently led to the use of other strategies, as the use of proteins, polysaccharides, or even cell membranes, instead of linear PEGylation.

On the other hand, anticancer therapeutics activity can also be extended with DDSs that, besides protecting them, drive their systemic or intratumoral long-term release. Release kinetics depends on the type of linkage/interaction between the therapeutic and the system and on biological environment that may or may not proC. Pacheco, A. Baião, T. Ding et al.

mote drug release. Therefore, novel strategies to refine release kinetics are based on precise and controlled systems' chemical structure modifications.

To foster long-acting anticancer DDSs clinical approval, we still need to face and overcome several challenges. Each anticancer molecule is physiochemically unique, so it will be difficult to design a "one-size-fits-all" strategy. However, it is important to recognize and define the impact of DDSs modifications on *in vivo* fate to hereafter rely on more logical and less empiric alternatives. While a controlled and prolonged drug release can be advantageous, too little release can limit therapeutic efficacy. Also, we need to build and use more accurate pre-clinical models to predict the true clinical potential of currently being developed systems. And finally, there is the need to simplify long-acting anticancer DDSs production and ensure their stability to facilitate largescale production and storage.

## Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

## **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the project Norte-01-0145-FEDER-000051 - "Cancer Research on Therapy Resistance: From Basic Mechanisms to Novel Targets", supported by Norte Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the PORTUGAL 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (FEDER) and FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT), Portugal. CP and AB thank FCT for financial support (Grants 2020.06611.BD and 2021.05027.BD, respectively), Shanghai Municipal Health and Family Planning Commission (2022XD055), and GuangCi Professorship Program of Ruijin Hospital Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine.

### References

- R.L. Siegel, K.D. Miller, H.E. Fuchs, A. Jemal, Cancer statistics, Ca-Can. J. Clin. 72 (2022) (2022) 7–33.
- [2] K.D. Miller, L. Nogueira, T. Devasia, A.B. Mariotto, K.R. Yabroff, A. Jemal, J. Kramer, R.L. Siegel, Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, Ca-Cancer J Clin 72 (2022) (2022) 409–436.
- [3] F. Danhier, O. Feron, V. Préat, To exploit the tumor microenvironment: Passive and active tumor targeting of nanocarriers for anti-cancer drug delivery, J. Control. Release 148 (2010) 135–146.
- [4] A. Banerjee, S. Pathak, V.D. Subramanium, D. G, R. Murugesan, R.S. Verma, Strategies for targeted drug delivery in treatment of colon cancer: current trends and future perspectives, Drug Discov. Today 22 (2017) 1224–1232.
- [5] D. Peer, J.M. Karp, S. Hong, O.C. Farokhzad, R. Margalit, R. Langer, Nanocarriers as an emerging platform for cancer therapy, Nat. Nanotechnol. 2 (2007) 751– 760.
- [6] R. Langer, J. Folkman, Polymers for the sustained release of proteins and other macromolecules, Nature 263 (1976) 797–800.
- [7] A.C. Anselmo, S. Mitragotri, Nanoparticles in the clinic: an update, Bioeng. Transl. Med. 4 (2019) e10143.
- [8] D. Sun, S. Zhou, W. Gao, What went wrong with anticancer nanomedicine design and how to make it right, ACS Nano 14 (2020) 12281–12290.
- [9] J. Shi, P.W. Kantoff, R. Wooster, O.C. Farokhzad, Cancer nanomedicine: progress, challenges and opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cancer 17 (2017) 20–37.
- [10] Y. Matsumura, H. Maeda, A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs, Cancer Res. 46 (1986) 6387–6392.
- [11] D.E. Owens, N.A. Peppas, Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles, Int. J. Pharm. 307 (2006) 93–102.
- [12] H.H. Gustafson, D. Holt-Casper, D.W. Grainger, H. Ghandehari, Nanoparticle uptake: the phagocyte problem, Nano Today 10 (2015) 487–510.

- [13] C.I. Nkanga, A. Fisch, M. Rad-Malekshahi, M.D. Romic, B. Kittel, T. Ullrich, J. Wang, R.W.M. Krause, S. Adler, T. Lammers, W.E. Hennink, F. Ramazani, Clinically established biodegradable long acting injectables: an industry perspective, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 167 (2020) 19–46.
- [14] Y. Shi, A. Lu, X. Wang, Z. Belhadj, J. Wang, Q. Zhang, A review of existing strategies for designing long-acting parenteral formulations: Focus on underlying mechanisms, and future perspectives, Acta Pharm. Sin. B 11 (2021) 2396–2415.
- [15] N. Kamaly, B. Yameen, J. Wu, O.C. Farokhzad, Degradable controlled-release polymers and polymeric nanoparticles: mechanisms of controlling drug release, Chem. Rev. 116 (2016) 2602–2663.
- [16] K.J. Ornell, D. Lozada, N.V. Phan, J.M. Coburn, Controlling methacryloyl substitution of chondroitin sulfate: injectable hydrogels with tunable longterm drug release profiles, J. Mater. Chem. 7 (2019) 2151–2161.
- [17] X. Yang, X. Chen, Y. Wang, G. Xu, L. Yu, J. Ding, Sustained release of lipophilic gemcitabine from an injectable polymeric hydrogel for synergistically enhancing tumor chemoradiotherapy, Chem. Eng. J. 396 (2020).
- [18] S. Doppalapudi, A. Jain, A.J. Domb, W. Khan, Biodegradable polymers for targeted delivery of anti-cancer drugs, Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 13 (2016) 891–909.
- [19] H. Fentahun Darge, E. Yibru Hanurry, Y. Simegniew Birhan, T. Worku Mekonnen, A. Tizazu Andrgie, H.-Y. Chou, J.-Y. Lai, H.-C. Tsai, Multifunctional drug-loaded micelles encapsulated in thermo-sensitive hydrogel for in vivo local cancer treatment: synergistic effects of antivascular and immuno-chemotherapy, Chem. Eng. J. 406 (2021).
- [20] H. Abdelkader, Z. Fathalla, A. Seyfoddin, M. Farahani, T. Thrimawithana, A. Allahham, A.W.G. Alani, A.A. Al-Kinani, R.G. Alany, Polymeric long-acting drug delivery systems (LADDS) for treatment of chronic diseases: Inserts, patches, wafers, and implants, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 177 (2021).
- [21] C. Printz, Failure rate: Why many cancer drugs don't receive FDA approval, and what can be done about it, Cancer 121 (2015) 1529–1530.
- [22] Q. Zhou, J.M. Gallo, The pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic pipeline: translating anticancer drug pharmacology to the clinic, AAPS J. 13 (2011) 111–120.
- [23] R. Duncan, The dawning era of polymer therapeutics, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2 (2003) 347–360.
- [24] J.B. Mumm, J. Emmerich, X. Zhang, I. Chan, L. Wu, S. Mauze, S. Blaisdell, B. Basham, J. Dai, J. Grein, C. Sheppard, K. Hong, C. Cutler, S. Turner, D. LaFace, M. Kleinschek, M. Judo, G. Ayanoglu, J. Langowski, D. Gu, B. Paporello, E. Murphy, V. Sriram, S. Naravula, B. Desai, S. Medicherla, W. Seghezzi, T. McClanahan, S. Cannon-Carlson, A.M. Beebe, M. Oft, IL-10 elicits IFNγ-dependent tumor immune surveillance, Cancer Cell 20 (2011) 781–796.
- [25] D. Tripathy, S.M. Tolaney, A.D. Seidman, C.K. Anders, N. Ibrahim, H.S. Rugo, C. Twelves, V. Dieras, V. Müller, M. Tagliaferri, A.L. Hannah, J. Cortés, ATTAIN: Phase III study of etirinotecan pegol versus treatment of physician's choice in patients with metastatic breast cancer and brain metastases, Future Oncol. 15 (2019) 2211–2225.
- [26] Y.A. Heo, Y.Y. Syed, S.J. Keam, Pegaspargase: a review in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, Drugs 79 (2019) 767–777.
- [27] H. Hayun, V. Arkadash, A. Sananes, E. Arbely, D. Stepensky, N. Papo, Bioorthogonal PEGylation Prolongs the Elimination Half-Life of N-TIMP2 While Retaining MMP Inhibition, Bioconjug, Chem. 33 (2022) 795–806.
- [28] F. Jia, P. Chen, D. Wang, Y. Sun, M. Ren, Y. Wang, X. Cao, L. Zhang, Y. Fang, X. Tan, H. Lu, J. Cai, X. Lu, K. Zhang, Bottlebrush polymer-conjugated melittin exhibits enhanced antitumor activity and better safety profile, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 13 (2021) 42533–42542.
- [29] F. Brandl, S. Busslinger, U. Zangemeister-Wittke, A. Plückthun, Optimizing the anti-tumor efficacy of protein-drug conjugates by engineering the molecular size and half-life, J. Control. Release 327 (2020) 186–197.
- [30] J.J. Arroyo-Crespo, C. Deladriere, V.J. Nebot, D. Charbonnier, E. Masiá, A. Paul, C. James, A. Armiñán, M.J. Vicent, Anticancer activity driven by drug linker modification in a polyglutamic acid-based combination-drug conjugate, Adv. Funct. Mater. 28 (2018) 1800931.
- [31] A. D'Souza A, R. Shegokar, Polyethylene glycol (PEG): a versatile polymer for pharmaceutical applications, Expert Opin. Drug. Deliv. 13 (2016) 1257–1275.
- [32] I. Ekladious, Y.L. Colson, M.W. Grinstaff, Polymer-drug conjugate therapeutics: advances, insights and prospects, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 18 (2019) 273–294.
- [33] B.G. Peters, B.J. Goeckner, J.J. Ponzillo, W.S. Velasquez, A.L. Wilson, Pegaspargase versus asparaginase in adult ALL: a pharmacoeconomic assessment, Formulary 30 (1995) 388–393.
- [34] F.M. Veronese, A. Mero, The impact of PEGylation on biological therapies, BioDrugs 22 (2008) 315–329.
- [35] T. Hirotsu, T. Higashi, H. Abu II, S. Misumi, K. Wada, K. Motoyama, H. Arima, Self-assembly PEGylation retaining activity (SPRA) technology via a hostguest interaction surpassing conventional PEGylation methods of proteins, Mol. Pharmacol. 14 (2017) 368–376.
- [36] K. Kessenbrock, V. Plaks, Z. Werb, Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment, Cell 141 (2010) 52–67.
- [37] S. Hernandez-Barrantes, M. Toth, M.M. Bernardo, M. Yurkova, D.C. Gervasi, Y. Raz, Q.A. Sang, R. Fridman, Binding of active (57 kDa) membrane type 1-matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) to tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMP)-2 regulates MT1-MMP processing and pro-MMP-2 activation, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 12080–12089.
- [38] H. Bouterfa, A.R. Darlapp, E. Klein, T. Pietsch, K. Roosen, J.C. Tonn, Expression of different extracellular matrix components in human brain tumor and

melanoma cells in respect to variant culture conditions, J Neuro-Oncol 44 (1999) 23–33.

- [39] I. Ozer, A. Tomak, H.M. Zareie, Y. Baran, V. Bulmus, Effect of molecular architecture on cell interactions and stealth properties of PEG, Biomacromolecules 18 (2017) 2699–2710.
- [40] S. Sadekar, O. Linares, G. Noh, D. Hubbard, A. Ray, M. Janát-Amsbury, C.M. Peterson, J. Facelli, H. Ghandehari, Comparative pharmacokinetics of PAMAM-OH dendrimers and HPMA copolymers in ovarian tumor-bearing mice, Drug Delivery Transl. Res. 3 (2013) 260–271.
- [41] T.T. Hoang Thi, E.H. Pilkington, D.H. Nguyen, J.S. Lee, K.D. Park, N.P. Truong, The importance of poly(ethylene glycol) alternatives for overcoming PEG immunogenicity in drug delivery and bioconjugation, Polymers (Basel) 12 (2020).
- [42] J.M. Harris, R.B. Chess, Effect of pegylation on pharmaceuticals, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2 (2003) 214–221.
- [43] M. Simon, R. Frey, U. Zangemeister-Wittke, A. Plückthun, Orthogonal assembly of a designed ankyrin repeat protein-cytotoxin conjugate with a clickable serum albumin module for half-life extension, Bioconjug. Chem. 24 (2013) 1955–1966.
- [44] R. Bayat Mokhtari, T.S. Homayouni, N. Baluch, E. Morgatskaya, S. Kumar, B. Das, H. Yeger, Combination therapy in combating cancer, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 38022–38043.
- [45] K.C. Ohaegbulam, A. Assal, E. Lazar-Molnar, Y. Yao, X. Zang, Human cancer immunotherapy with antibodies to the PD-1 and PD-L1 pathway, Trends Mol. Med. 21 (2015) 24–33.
- [46] H. Wang, H. Yao, C. Li, H. Shi, J. Lan, Z. Li, Y. Zhang, L. Liang, J.Y. Fang, J. Xu, HIP1R targets PD-L1 to lysosomal degradation to alter T cell-mediated cytotoxicity, Nat. Chem. Biol. 15 (2019) 42–50.
- [47] L. Li, Y. Li, C.H. Yang, D.C. Radford, J. Wang, M. Janát-Amsbury, J. Kopeček, J. Yang, Inhibition of immunosuppressive tumors by polymer-assisted inductions of immunogenic cell death and multivalent PD-L1 crosslinking, Adv. Funct. Mater. 30 (2020).
- [48] A. Ali, R. Bhadane, A.A. Asl, C.E. Wilén, O. Salo-Ahen, J.M. Rosenholm, K.K. Bansal, Functional block copolymer micelles based on poly (jasmine lactone) for improving the loading efficiency of weakly basic drugs, RSC Adv. 12 (2022) 26763–26775.
- [49] S.Y. Fam, C.F. Chee, C.Y. Yong, K.L. Ho, A.R. Mariatulqabtiah, W.S. Tan, Stealth coating of nanoparticles in drug-delivery systems, Nanomaterials 10 (2020) 787.
- [50] S. Salmaso, P. Caliceti, Stealth properties to improve therapeutic efficacy of drug nanocarriers, J Drug Delivery 2013 (2013).
- [51] Z. Amoozgar, Y. Yeo, Recent advances in stealth coating of nanoparticle drug delivery systems, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 4 (2012) 219–233.
- [52] V.V. Sheffey, E.B. Siew, E.E.L. Tanner, O. Eniola-Adefeso, PLGA's plight and the role of stealth surface modification strategies in its use for intravenous particulate drug delivery, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 11 (2022) 2101536.
- [53] Y. Barenholz, Doxil<sup>®</sup> The first FDA-approved nano-drug: Lessons learned, J. Control. Release 160 (2012) 117–134.
- [54] S. Zalba, T.L.M. ten Hagen, C. Burgui, M.J. Garrido, Stealth nanoparticles in oncology: facing the PEG dilemma, J. Control. Release 351 (2022) 22–36.
- [55] J.S. Suk, Q. Xu, N. Kim, J. Hanes, L.M. Ensign, PEGylation as a strategy for improving nanoparticle-based drug and gene delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 99 (2016) 28–51.
- [56] Y. Chen, J. Chen, Y. Cheng, L. Luo, P. Zheng, Y. Tong, Z. Li, A lyophilized sterically stabilized liposome-containing docetaxel: in vitro and in vivo evaluation, J. Liposome Res. 27 (2017) 64–73.
- [57] G.T. Kozma, T. Shimizu, T. Ishida, J. Szebeni, Anti-PEG antibodies: Properties, formation, testing and role in adverse immune reactions to PEGylated nano-biopharmaceuticals, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 154–155 (2020) 163–175.
- [58] E.T.M. Dams, P. Laverman, W.J.G. Oyen, G. Storm, G.L. Scherphof, J.W.M. van der Meer, F.H.M. Corstens, O.C. Boerman, Accelerated blood clearance and altered biodistribution of repeated injections of sterically stabilized liposomes, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 292 (2000) 1071–1079.
- [59] T. Ishihara, T. Maeda, H. Sakamoto, N. Takasaki, M. Shigyo, T. Ishida, H. Kiwada, Y. Mizushima, T. Mizushima, Evasion of the accelerated blood clearance phenomenon by coating of nanoparticles with various hydrophilic polymers, Biomacromolecules 11 (2010) 2700–2706.
- [60] A.V. Kroll, R.H. Fang, L. Zhang, Biointerfacing and applications of cell membrane-coated nanoparticles, Bioconjug. Chem. 28 (2017) 23–32.
- [61] R. Hoogenboom, H. Schlaad, Thermoresponsive poly(2-oxazoline)s, polypeptoids, and polypeptides, Polym. Chem. 8 (2017) 24–40.
- [62] J.M. Metselaar, P. Bruin, L.W.T. de Boer, T. de Vringer, C. Snel, C. Oussoren, M. H.M. Wauben, D.J.A. Crommelin, G. Storm, W.E. Hennink, A novel family of Iamino acid-based biodegradable polymer–lipid conjugates for the development of long-circulating liposomes with effective drug-targeting capacity, Bioconjug. Chem. 14 (2003) 1156–1164.
- [63] J. Kopecek, P. Kopecková, HPMA copolymers: origins, early developments, present, and future, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (2010) 122–149.
- [64] R.K. Kainthan, D.E. Brooks, In vivo biological evaluation of high molecular weight hyperbranched polyglycerols, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 4779–4787.
- [65] S. Jiang, Z. Cao, Ultralow-fouling, functionalizable, and hydrolyzable zwitterionic materials and their derivatives for biological applications, Adv. Mater. 22 (2010) 920–932.

- [66] A.M.G.C. Dias, A. Hussain, A.S. Marcos, A.C.A. Roque, A biotechnological perspective on the application of iron oxide magnetic colloids modified with polysaccharides, Biotechnol. Adv. 29 (2011) 142–155.
- [67] R.A.H. Ishak, G.A.S. Awad, N.M. Zaki, A.E.-H.A. El-Shamy, N.D. Mortada, A comparative study of chitosan shielding effect on nano-carriers hydrophilicity and biodistribution, Carbohydr. Polym. 94 (2013) 669–676.
- [68] S.H. Voon, S.X. Tiew, C.S. Kue, H.B. Lee, L.V. Kiew, M. Misran, A. Kamkaew, K. Burgess, L.Y. Chung, Chitosan-coated poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-diiodinated boron-dipyrromethene nanoparticles improve tumor selectivity and stealth properties in photodynamic cancer therapy, J. Biomed. Nanotechnol. 12 (2016) 1431–1452.
- [69] A.M. Merlot, D.S. Kalinowski, D.R. Richardson, Unraveling the mysteries of serum albumin-more than just a serum protein, Front. Physiol. 5 (2014).
- [70] M. Esfandyari-Manesh, S.H. Mostafavi, R.F. Majidi, M.N. Koopaei, N.S. Ravari, M. Amini, B. Darvishi, S.N. Ostad, F. Atyabi, R. Dinarvand, Improved anticancer delivery of paclitaxel by albumin surface modification of PLGA nanoparticles, Daru, J Pharm Sci 23 (2015) 28.
- [71] S. Manoochehri, B. Darvishi, G. Kamalinia, M. Amini, M. Fallah, S.N. Ostad, F. Atyabi, R. Dinarvand, Surface modification of PLGA nanoparticles via human serum albumin conjugation for controlled delivery of docetaxel, Daru, J Pharm Sci 21 (2013) 58.
- [72] N. Hadjesfandiari, A. Parambath, 13 Stealth coatings for nanoparticles: Polyethylene glycol alternatives, in: A. Parambath (Ed.) Engineering of Biomaterials for Drug Delivery Systems, Woodhead Publishing2018, pp. 345-361.
- [73] Y.-Y. Yuan, C.-Q. Mao, X.-J. Du, J.-Z. Du, F. Wang, J. Wang, Surface charge switchable nanoparticles based on zwitterionic polymer for enhanced drug delivery to tumor, Adv. Mater. 24 (2012) 5476–5480.
- [74] J. Cao, Y.-W. Chen, X. Wang, X.-L. Luo, Enhancing blood compatibility of biodegradable polymers by introducing sulfobetaine, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 97A (2011) 472–479.
- [75] A. Parodi, N. Quattrocchi, A.L. van de Ven, C. Chiappini, M. Evangelopoulos, J. O. Martinez, B.S. Brown, S.Z. Khaled, I.K. Yazdi, M.V. Enzo, L. Isenhart, M. Ferrari, E. Tasciotti, Synthetic nanoparticles functionalized with biomimetic leukocyte membranes possess cell-like functions, Nat. Nanotechnol. 8 (2013) 61–68.
- [76] R.H. Fang, A.V. Kroll, W. Gao, L. Zhang, Cell Membrane Coating Nanotechnology, Adv. Mater. 30 (2018) 1706759.
- [77] M. Xuan, J. Shao, J. Li, Cell membrane-covered nanoparticles as biomaterials, Natl. Sci. Rev. 6 (2019) 551–561.
- [78] S. Zou, B. Wang, C. Wang, Q. Wang, L. Zhang, Cell membrane-coated nanoparticles: research advances, Nanomedicine 15 (2020) 625–641.
- [79] P.-A. Oldenborg, A. Zheleznyak, Y.-F. Fang, C.F. Lagenaur, H.D. Gresham, F.P. Lindberg, Role of CD47 as a marker of self on red blood cells, Science 288 (2000) 2051–2054.
- [80] P. Burger, P. Hilarius-Stokman, D. de Korte, T.K. van den Berg, R. van Bruggen, CD47 functions as a molecular switch for erythrocyte phagocytosis, Blood 119 (2012) 5512–5521.
- [81] Q. Xia, Y. Zhang, Z. Li, X. Hou, N. Feng, Red blood cell membrane-camouflaged nanoparticles: a novel drug delivery system for antitumor application, Acta Pharm. Sin. B 9 (2019) 675–689.
- [82] P. Dash, A.M. Piras, M. Dash, Cell membrane coated nanocarriers an efficient biomimetic platform for targeted therapy, J. Control. Release 327 (2020) 546– 570.
- [83] C.-M.J. Hu, L. Zhang, S. Aryal, C. Cheung, R.H. Fang, L. Zhang, Erythrocyte membrane-camouflaged polymeric nanoparticles as a biomimetic delivery platform, PNAS 108 (2011) 10980–10985.
- [84] W. Gao, C.-M.J. Hu, R.H. Fang, B.T. Luk, J. Su, L. Zhang, Surface functionalization of gold nanoparticles with red blood cell membranes, Adv. Mater. 25 (2013) 3549–3553.
- [85] K.D. Miller, L. Nogueira, T. Devasia, A.B. Mariotto, K.R. Yabroff, A. Jemal, J. Kramer, R.L. Siegel, Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, CA Cancer J. Clin. 72 (2022) (2022) 409–436.
- [86] M. Norouzi, B. Nazari, D.W. Miller, Injectable hydrogel-based drug delivery systems for local cancer therapy, Drug Discov. Today 21 (2016) 1835–1849.
- [87] J. Li, D.J. Mooney, Designing hydrogels for controlled drug delivery, Nat. Rev. Mater. 1 (2016).
- [88] Z. Sun, C. Song, C. Wang, Y. Hu, J. Wu, Hydrogel-based controlled drug delivery for cancer treatment: a review, Mol. Pharm. 17 (2020) 373–391.
- [89] A. Bordbar-Khiabani, M. Gasik, Smart hydrogels for advanced drug delivery systems, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 23 (2022).
- [90] H.J. Moon, Y. Ko du, M.H. Park, M.K. Joo, B. Jeong, Temperature-responsive compounds as in situ gelling biomedical materials, Chem Soc Rev, 41 (2012) 4860-4883.
- [91] T. Zhang, Y. Tang, W. Zhang, S. Liu, Y. Zhao, W. Wang, J. Wang, L. Xu, K. Liu, Sustained drug release and cancer treatment by an injectable and biodegradable cyanoacrylate-based local drug delivery system, J. Mater. Chem. B 6 (2018) 1216–1225.
- [92] K.J. Ornell, D. Lozada, N.V. Phan, J.M. Coburn, Controlling methacryloyl substitution of chondroitin sulfate: injectable hydrogels with tunable longterm drug release profiles, J. Mater. Chem. B 7 (2019) 2151–2161.
- [93] L. Zeng, J. He, Y. Cao, J. Wang, Z. Qiao, X. Jiang, L. Hou, J. Zhang, Tissueadhesive and highly mechanical double-network hydrogel for cryopreservation and sustained release of anti-cancer drugs, Smart Materials in Medicine 2 (2021) 229–236.

- [94] J.D. Schneible, A. Singhal, R.L. Lilova, C.K. Hall, A. Grafmüller, S. Menegatti, Tailoring the chemical modification of chitosan hydrogels to fine-tune the release of a synergistic combination of chemotherapeutics, Biomacromolecules 20 (2019) 3126–3141.
- [95] C. Demetzos, N. Pippa, Advanced drug delivery nanosystems (aDDnSs): a mini-review, Drug Deliv. 21 (2014) 250–257.
- [96] E. Lagreca, V. Onesto, C. Di Natale, S. La Manna, P.A. Netti, R. Vecchione, Recent advances in the formulation of PLGA microparticles for controlled drug delivery, Prog. Biomater. 9 (2020) 153–174.
- [97] P. Thoniyot, M.J. Tan, A.A. Karim, D.J. Young, X.J. Loh, Nanoparticle-hydrogel composites: concept, design, and applications of these promising, multifunctional materials, Adv Sci (Weinheim, Ger) 2 (2015) 1400010.
- [98] L. Sun, F. Shen, L. Tian, H. Tao, Z. Xiong, J. Xu, Z. Liu, ATP-responsive smart hydrogel releasing immune adjuvant synchronized with repeated chemotherapy or radiotherapy to boost antitumor immunity, Adv. Mater. 33 (2021) e2007910.
- [99] H. Ledford, H. Else, M. Warren, Cancer immunologists scoop medicine Nobel prize, Nature 562 (2018) 20–21.
- [100] I. Mellman, G. Coukos, G. Dranoff, Cancer immunotherapy comes of age, Nature 480 (2011) 480–489.
- [101] Z. Li, Y. Ding, J. Liu, J. Wang, F. Mo, Y. Wang, T.J. Chen-Mayfield, P.M. Sondel, S. Hong, Q. Hu, Depletion of tumor associated macrophages enhances local and systemic platelet-mediated anti-PD-1 delivery for post-surgery tumor recurrence treatment, Nat. Commun. 13 (2022) 1845.
- [102] E.A. Ogunnaike, A. Valdivia, M. Yazdimamaghani, E. Leon, S. Nandi, H. Hudson, H. Du, S. Khagi, Z. Gu, B. Savoldo, F.S. Ligler, S. Hingtgen, G. Dotti, Fibrin gel enhances the antitumor effects of chimeric antigen receptor T cells in glioblastoma, Sci. Adv. 7 (2021) eabg5841.
- [103] X. Yang, X. Chen, Y. Wang, G. Xu, L. Yu, J. Ding, Sustained release of lipophilic gemcitabine from an injectable polymeric hydrogel for synergistically enhancing tumor chemoradiotherapy, Chem. Eng. J. 396 (2020).
- [104] H. Fentahun Darge, E. Yibru Hanurry, Y. Simegniew Birhan, T. Worku Mekonnen, A. Tizazu Andrgie, H.-Y. Chou, J.-Y. Lai, H.-C. Tsai, Multifunctional drug-loaded micelles encapsulated in thermo-sensitive hydrogel for in vivo local cancer treatment: Synergistic effects of anti-vascular and immuno-chemotherapy, Chem. Eng. J. 406 (2021).
  [105] L. Sun, F. Shen, L. Tian, H. Tao, Z. Xiong, J. Xu, Z. Liu, ATP-responsive smart
- [105] L. Sun, F. Shen, L. Tian, H. Tao, Z. Xiong, J. Xu, Z. Liu, ATP-responsive smart hydrogel releasing immune adjuvant synchronized with repeated chemotherapy or radiotherapy to boost antitumor immunity, Adv. Mater. 33 (2021) e2007910.
- [106] Z. Li, Y. Ding, J. Liu, J. Wang, F. Mo, Y. Wang, T.J. Chen-Mayfield, P.M. Sondel, S. Hong, Q. Hu, Depletion of tumor associated macrophages enhances local and systemic platelet-mediated anti-PD-1 delivery for post-surgery tumor recurrence treatment, Nat. Commun. 13 (2022) 1845.
- [107] E.A. Ogunnaike, A. Valdivia, M. Yazdimamaghani, E. Leon, S. Nandi, H. Hudson, H. Du, S. Khagi, Z. Gu, B. Savoldo, F.S. Ligler, S. Hingtgen, G. Dotti, Fibrin gel enhances the antitumor effects of chimeric antigen receptor T cells in glioblastoma, Sci. Adv. 7 (2021) eabg5841.
- [108] M.R. Prausnitz, Microneedles for transdermal drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 56 (2004) 581–587.
- [109] S. Indermun, R. Luttge, Y.E. Choonara, P. Kumar, L.C. du Toit, G. Modi, V. Pillay, Current advances in the fabrication of microneedles for transdermal delivery, J. Control. Release 185 (2014) 130–138.
- [110] A.F. Moreira, C.F. Rodrigues, T.A. Jacinto, S.P. Miguel, E.C. Costa, I.J. Correia, Microneedle-based delivery devices for cancer therapy: a review, Pharmacol. Res. 148 (2019).
- [111] R.F. Donnelly, T.R.R. Singh, A.D. Woolfson, Microneedle-based drug delivery systems: microfabrication, drug delivery, and safety, Drug Deliv. 17 (2010) 187–207.
- [112] H. Abdelkader, Z. Fathalla, A. Seyfoddin, M. Farahani, T. Thrimawithana, A. Allahham, A.W.G. Alani, A.A. Al-Kinani, R.G. Alany, Polymeric long-acting drug delivery systems (LADDS) for treatment of chronic diseases: inserts, patches, wafers, and implants, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 177 (2021).
- [113] B.Z. Chen, M. Ashfaq, D.D. Zhu, X.P. Zhang, X.D. Guo, Controlled delivery of insulin using rapidly separating microneedles fabricated from genipincrosslinked gelatin, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 39 (2018) 1800075.
- [114] B.Z. Chen, M. Ashfaq, X.P. Zhang, J.N. Zhang, X.D. Guo, In vitro and in vivo assessment of polymer microneedles for controlled transdermal drug delivery, J. Drug Target. 26 (2018) 720–729.
- [115] Z. Chen, J. He, J. Qi, Q. Zhu, W. Wu, Y. Lu, Long-acting microneedles: a progress report of the state-of-the-art techniques, Drug Discov. Today 25 (2020) 1462–1468.
- [116] T. Waghule, G. Singhvi, S.K. Dubey, M.M. Pandey, G. Gupta, M. Singh, K. Dua, Microneedles: A smart approach and increasing potential for transdermal drug delivery system, Biomed. Pharmacother. 109 (2019) 1249–1258.
- [117] E. Larrañeta, R.E.M. Lutton, A.D. Woolfson, R.F. Donnelly, Microneedle arrays as transdermal and intradermal drug delivery systems: Materials science, manufacture and commercial development, Mater. Sci. Eng. R 104 (2016) 1– 32.
- [118] V. Singh, P. Kesharwani, Recent advances in microneedles-based drug delivery device in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer, J. Control. Release 338 (2021) 394–409.

- [119] A.A. Seetharam, H. Choudhry, M.A. Bakhrebah, W.H. Abdulaal, M.S. Gupta, S. M. Rizvi, Q. Alam, D.V. Siddaramaiah, A. Moin Gowda, Microneedles drug delivery systems for treatment of cancer: a recent update, Pharmaceutics (2020).
- [120] D. Zhi, T. Yang, J. O'Hagan, S. Zhang, R.F. Donnelly, Photothermal therapy, J. Control. Release 325 (2020) 52–71.
- [121] W. Chen, H. Li, D. Shi, Z. Liu, W. Yuan, Microneedles as a delivery system for gene therapy, Front. Pharmacol. 7 (2016) 137.
- [122] C. Wang, Y. Ye, G.M. Hochu, H. Sadeghifar, Z. Gu, Enhanced cancer immunotherapy by microneedle patch-assisted delivery of anti-PD1 antibody, Nano Lett. 16 (2016) 2334–2340.
- [123] X. Lan, J. She, D.-A. Lin, Y. Xu, X. Li, W.-F. Yang, V.W.Y. Lui, L. Jin, X. Xie, Y.-X. Su, Microneedle-mediated delivery of lipid-coated cisplatin nanoparticles for efficient and safe cancer therapy, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (2018) 33060–33069.
- [124] X. Lan, W. Zhu, X. Huang, Y. Yu, H. Xiao, L. Jin, J.J. Pu, X. Xie, J. She, V.W.Y. Lui, H.-J. Chen, Y.-X. Su, Microneedles loaded with anti-PD-1-cisplatin nanoparticles for synergistic cancer immuno-chemotherapy, Nanoscale 12 (2020) 18885–18898.
- [125] Z. Luo, W. Sun, J. Fang, K. Lee, S. Li, Z. Gu, M.R. Dokmeci, A. Khademhosseini, Biodegradable gelatin methacryloyl microneedles for transdermal drug delivery, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 8 (2019) 1801054.
- [126] Y. Zhang, Z. Zhang, The history and advances in cancer immunotherapy: understanding the characteristics of tumor-infiltrating immune cells and their therapeutic implications, Cell. Mol. Immunol. 17 (2020) 807–821.
- [127] Z. Zhao, A. Ukidve, A. Dasgupta, S. Mitragotri, Transdermal immunomodulation: principles, advances and perspectives, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 127 (2018) 3–19.
- [128] H.S. Gill, M.R. Prausnitz, Coated microneedles for transdermal delivery, J. Control. Release 117 (2007) 227–237.
- [129] L.H. Butterfield, Cancer vaccines, BMJ [Br Med J] 350 (2015).
- [130] L. Niu, L.Y. Chu, S.A. Burton, K.J. Hansen, J. Panyam, Intradermal delivery of vaccine nanoparticles using hollow microneedle array generates enhanced and balanced immune response, J. Control. Release 294 (2019) 268–278.
- [131] M. Zaric, O. Lyubomska, O. Touzelet, C. Poux, S. Al-Zahrani, F. Fay, L. Wallace, D. Terhorst, B. Malissen, S. Henri, U.F. Power, C.J. Scott, R.F. Donnelly, A. Kissenpfennig, Skin dendritic cell targeting via microneedle arrays laden with antigen-encapsulated poly-d, l-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles induces efficient antitumor and antiviral immune responses, ACS Nano 7 (2013) 2042–2055.
- [132] T. Fujiyama, I. Oze, H. Yagi, H. Hashizume, K. Matsuo, R. Hino, R. Kamo, S. Imayama, S. Hirakawa, T. Ito, M. Takigawa, Y. Tokura, Induction of cytotoxic T cells as a novel independent survival factor in malignant melanoma with percutaneous peptide immunization, J. Dermatol. Sci. 75 (2014) 43–48.
- [133] S.A. Tawde, L. Chablani, A. Akalkotkar, M.J. D'Souza, Evaluation of microparticulate ovarian cancer vaccine via transdermal route of delivery, J. Control. Release 235 (2016) 147–154.
- [134] Y. Ye, C. Wang, X. Zhang, Q. Hu, Y. Zhang, Q. Liu, D. Wen, J. Milligan, A. Bellotti, L. Huang, G. Dotti, Z. Gu, A melanin-mediated cancer immunotherapy patch, Sci. Immunol. 2 (2017) eaan5692.
- [135] M.A. Lopez-Ramirez, F. Soto, C. Wang, R. Rueda, S. Shukla, C. Silva-Lopez, D. Kupor, D.A. McBride, J.K. Pokorski, A. Nourhani, N.F. Steinmetz, N.J. Shah, J. Wang, Built-in active microneedle patch with enhanced autonomous drug delivery, Adv. Mater. 32 (2020) 1905740.
- [136] Y. Ye, J. Wang, Q. Hu, G.M. Hochu, H. Xin, C. Wang, Z. Gu, Synergistic transcutaneous immunotherapy enhances antitumor immune responses through delivery of checkpoint inhibitors, ACS Nano 10 (2016) 8956–8963.
- [137] L. Dong, Y. Li, Z. Li, N. Xu, P. Liu, H. Du, Y. Zhang, Y. Huang, J. Zhu, G. Ren, J. Xie, K. Wang, Y. Zhou, C. Shen, J. Zhu, J. Tao, Au nanocage-strengthened dissolving microneedles for chemo-photothermal combined therapy of superficial skin tumors, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (2018) 9247–9256.
- [138] H. Rosen, T. Abribat, The rise and rise of drug delivery, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4 (2005) 381–385.
- [139] J.R. Hecht, S. Lonardi, J. Bendell, H.W. Sim, T. Macarulla, C.D. Lopez, E. Van Cutsem, A.J. Muñoz Martin, J.O. Park, R. Greil, H. Wang, R.R. Hozak, I. Gueorguieva, Y. Lin, S. Rao, B.Y. Ryoo, Randomized Phase III Study of FOLFOX Alone or With Pegilodecakin as Second-Line Therapy in Patients With Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer That Progressed After Gemcitabine (SEQUOIA), J Clin Oncol, 39 (2021) 1108-1118.
- [140] D. Tripathy, S.M. Tolaney, A.D. Seidman, C.K. Anders, N. Ibrahim, H.S. Rugo, C. Twelves, V. Diéras, V. Müller, Y. Du, S.L. Currie, U. Hoch, M. Tagliaferri, A.L. Hannah, J. Cortés, Treatment with etirinotecan pegol for patients with metastatic breast cancer and brain metastases: final results from the phase 3 ATTAIN randomized clinical trial, JAMA Oncol. 8 (2022) 1047–1052.
- [141] C. Aggarwal, R.B. Cohen, E. Yu, W.T. Hwang, J.M. Bauml, E. Alley, T.L. Evans, C.J. Langer, Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102) in third-line treatment of patients with metastatic or recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer: results of a phase II study, Clin. Lung Cancer 19 (2018) 157–162.
- [142] P.M. Llorca, M. Abbar, P. Courtet, S. Guillaume, S. Lancrenon, L. Samalin, Guidelines for the use and management of long-acting injectable antipsychotics in serious mental illness, BMC Psychiatry 13 (2013) 340.
- [143] Guidelines on long-acting injectable cabotegravir for HIV prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.